1997

Wardley Corporation v. Grant Welsh : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

INTRODUCTION

Defendant and appellant Grant Welsh, ("Welsh") by counsel and pursuant to Rule 24, Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure, submits the following opening brief in support of his appeal from the order entered by the Third Judicial District Court in and for Salt Lake County, Division II, State of Utah on November 15, 1996, granting partial summary judgment in favor of plaintiff/appellee Wardley Corporation ("Wardley") and against Welsh on all issues in the case save one; also, from judgment following trial in favor of Wardley and against Welsh on the remaining issue, on January 8, 1997.

JURISDICTION

This is an appeal from a final order and judgment of the Third Judicial District Court for Salt Lake County, Division II, State of Utah, the Honorable Robin W. Reese, presiding, in favor of Wardley, and against Welsh, based upon Wardley's claims for real estate commissions. The trial court entered partial summary judgment

on all issues in the case save one (whether Wardley had accepted a "net listing", prohibited by law) on November 15, 1996; following trial on the remaining issue on December 16, 1996, the lower court entered judgment in the amount of \$15,173.75 plus interest and costs, on January 8, 1997.

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-2a(2)(j), and pursuant to the Supreme Court's Order of Referral herein, dated June 19, 1997.

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
AND STANDARD OF REVIEW**

1. Whether the trial court erred in ruling that, as a matter of law, neither Wardley nor its agent, Randy Young ("Young"), were acting as agents for the buyer, seller and/or both, in connection with Welsh's sale to Leon Peterson and Associates ("Peterson") of real property located at 4800 West 8600 South, West Jordan, Salt Lake County, State of Utah, under a Real Estate Purchase Contract dated May 31, 1994 (the "Purchase Agreement"). Preserved at R. 116-125; 386-415.

2. Whether the trial court erred in finding that, as a matter of law, neither Wardley nor Young (as its agent) was acting as agent of either Welsh or Peterson (respectively buyer and seller under the Purchase Agreement) or both within the meaning of Utah Code Ann. §§ 61-2-3(12) and (15). Preserved at R. 116-125; 386-415.

3. Whether the trial court erred in finding, as a matter of law, that Wardley (and therefore Young as Wardley's agent) was a "coordinating agent". Preserved at R. 116-125; 386-415.

4. Whether the trial court erred in finding, as a matter of law, that Wardley (and Young as Wardley's agent), as "coordinating agent" or otherwise, owed no fiduciary obligation to either Seller Welsh or Buyer Peterson, notwithstanding provisions of Utah law applicable to licensed real estate brokers and agents operating in the State of Utah. Preserved at R. 116-125; 386-415.

5. Whether the trial court erred in finding that the agreement between Wardley (through Young as its agent), on the one hand, and either Welsh and/or Peterson (as, respectively, buyer and seller under the Purchase Agreement), under which Wardley claimed a right of recovery herein, did not constitute a "listing" as defined by law. Preserved at R. 116-125; 386-415.

6. Whether the court erred in finding that the agreement between Wardley (through Young as its agent), on the one hand, and either Welsh or Peterson (as, respectively, seller and buyer under the Purchase Agreement) did not constitute a "net listing" as defined by law. Preserved at R. 571-758.

7. Whether the trial court erred in holding that, as a matter of law, neither Wardley nor Young were obliged, in connection with their earning of a commission under the Purchase Agreement between Welsh and Peterson, to abide by provisions of state law applicable generally to licensed real estate brokers and agents operating in the state of Utah, including provisions:

- (a) requiring mandatory written disclosure of plaintiff's interest in the transaction as other than an agent of the buyer, seller or both;
- (b) prohibiting the acceptance of a "net listing";
- (c) prohibiting the sale of the property subject to the agreement other than through the listing broker;
- (d) requiring a written agency agreement;
- (e) requiring disclosure to the buyer and the seller under the Purchase Agreement the scope and nature of their agency relationship with the buyer, seller and/or both, and obtaining a written consent thereto;
- (f) requiring written disclosure of any fee not constituting a real estate commission to be received by plaintiff in connection with the transaction, to all parties thereto; and/or

(g) imposing fiduciary obligations upon a seller's agent, buyer's agent and/or limited dual agent.

Preserved at R. 116-125; 386-415.

8. Whether the trial court erred in finding that because Wardley (acting through Young as its agent) was not an agent of either Welsh, Peterson, or both, Wardley was entitled to recover a real estate commission or other compensation in connection with the Purchase Agreement notwithstanding the prohibition against the payment of commissions in real estate transactions which violate state law imposed by Utah Code Ann. § 61-2-17(4). Preserved at R. 69-72; 116-125; 386-415.

9. Whether the trial court erred in denying Welsh's Motion to Amend his Answer to assert Wardley's violations of Utah law under its guise of a "coordinating agent", while still collecting a commission from the parties to the transaction. Preserved at R. 386-415.

All issues as set out above were presented to the lower court on Wardley's motion for summary judgment (R 105-106). Wardley's motion was fully briefed by the parties (R 84-104; 107-142, 192-328). Argument was to the court on November 4, 1996 (R 521-570). On November 14, 1996, the court entered summary judgment on all issues with the exception of issue number 6 above (R 336-338). The

lower court's rational for granting summary judgment as to all issues with the exception of issue number 6 was set out in the court's handwritten notes made part of the record herein (R 180-183), and during the course of oral argument (R 521-570). As to all of these issues, the court reviews the lower court's ruling for correctness, affording the lower court no deference, affirming only where it appears that no genuine dispute existed as to any material issue of fact and where the facts even as contended by the appellant demand that appellee was entitled to judgment as a matter of law. See Themy v. Seagull Enters, Inc., 595 P.2d 526 (Utah 1979), Reeves v. Geigy Pharmaceutical, Inc., 764 P.2d 636 (Utah Ct. App. 1988); Hunt v. ESI Engineering, Inc., 808 P.2d 1137 (Utah Ct. App. 1991), cert. denied, 826 P.2d 651 (Utah 1991).

Trial on the single issue set out at paragraph number 6, above, was to the court on December 16, 1996. (R 571-773). At the conclusion of trial, however, the trial court went of record stating that since (1) the court had already found, as a matter of law, that Wardley was not Welsh's agent in the transaction at issue, and (2) that, as a matter of law, there was therefore no listing agreement between Wardley and Welsh, there could be no "net listing", and that Welsh was therefore not entitled to rely upon the provisions of Utah Code Ann. § 61-2-17(4) as a defense to Wardley's

claims (R 764-773). The court's ruling was later set out in its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law dated January 8, 1997 (R 462-466).

Since the court's ruling at the conclusion of trial was based upon its prior determinations and response to summary judgment (to wit: that Wardley was not Welsh's agent in the transaction, and therefore had no listing with him), this court must likewise review the court's findings and conclusions as per the standard of review appropriate for orders of summary judgment, under the authority set out above.

DETERMINATIVE CASE LAW AND STATUTORY PROVISIONS

1. Utah Code Annotated § 61-2-2 (12) and (15).
2. Utah Code Annotated § 61-2-11 (2), (4), (11), (15) and (16).
3. Utah Code Annotated § 61-2-17 (4).
4. Utah Administrative Code § R 162-6.1.3.
5. Utah Administrative Code § R 162-6.1.4.
6. Utah Administrative Code § R 162-6.1.11.
7. Utah Administrative Code § R 162-6.2.7.
8. Utah Administrative Code § R 162-6.2.16.
9. *Andalex Resources, Inc. v. Myers*, 871 P.2d 1041 (Utah App. 1994).

10. *Diversified General Corporation v. White Barn Golf Course, Inc.*, 584 P.2d 848 (Utah 1978).
11. *Foster v. Blake Heights Corporation*, 530 P.2d 815 (Utah 1974).
12. *Hal Taylor & Assoc. v. Unionamerica, Inc.*, 657 P.2d 743 (Utah 1982).
13. *Ross v. Producers Mutual Insurance Company*, 4 Utah 2d 396, 295 P.2d 339 (Utah 1956).
14. *Short v. Bullion-Beck & Champion Mining Company*, 57 P. 720 (Utah 1899).
15. *State v. Pelkey*, 794 P.2d 1286 (Wash. App. 1990).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Wardley brought this action to recover a commission in a real estate transaction between Welsh (as seller) and Leon Peterson (as buyer). Wardley contended that it was not an agent for purposes of the transaction, did not hold a listing on the property to be sold, had no fiduciary obligation to either buyer or seller, was required to abide by none of the legal and regulatory restrictions upon real estate agents and brokers in the State of Utah concerning disclosures to principles in real estate transactions--yet was entitled to recover a real estate commission from Welsh on

the transaction. Welsh resisted Wardley's claims, asserting that, under Utah law, Wardley had failed to comport itself in accordance with rules and regulations incumbent on real estate agents and brokers in the State of Utah, and had therefore forfeited its right to claim a commission on the transaction under Utah Code Ann. § 61-2-17(4).

Wardley moved for summary judgment on its entire claim. Argument was held before the court on November 4, 1996 (R 521-570). By order dated November 14, 1996 (R 336-338), the court granted summary judgment on all aspects of Wardley's claim save one: whether Wardley's contract claim for commission on the transaction (which, according to Wardley's testimony, permitted it to retain all sales proceeds in excess of \$18,000 per lot) was a "net listing" prohibited by Utah law, which--if shown--would deprive plaintiff/appellee of its right to collect the commission.

Prior to the day of trial, Welsh moved to amend his Answer to assert Wardley's numerous violations of laws and regulations governing real estate brokers and agents in dealing with principals in real estate transactions (R 386-398).

Trial on the issue not resolved by summary judgment was held before the court on December 16, 1996 (R 571-773). At the outset of trial, the lower court

denied Welsh's motion to amend his Answer, and ruled that trial would deal with the single issue of whether Wardley was attempting to collect a commission on a "net listing" (R 578-579). At the conclusion of trial, the trial court observed that, since (as the court had already found incident to Wardley's motion for summary judgment) Wardley was not Welsh's "agent", and since, according to trial testimony, a "listing" implies an agency relationship, Wardley did not have a "listing" on the subject property at all, and could not therefore have had a "net listing" (R 764-773). A transcript of the court's ruling is attached as Attachment 1 hereto. On the basis of this finding, the court entered its Findings and Conclusions (R 462-466) and Judgment (R 467-468) on January 8, 1997 (Attachments 2 and 3 hereto).

Welsh filed his Notice of Appeal on February 3, 1997 (Attachment 4 hereto).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

As noted above, the court's Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Judgment were based almost completely on findings made in response to Wardley's Motion for Summary Judgment herein. Accordingly, the following facts are taken from the record, and construed in light most favorable to Welsh:

1. Welsh is an individual who, at all times prior to May 31, 1994, was the owner of a parcel of real property located approximately 4800 West and 8400 South in West Jordan, Salt Lake County, State of Utah, known as the Dorilee Acres subdivision property (the "Subject Property"). Complaint (R 1) at paragraph 4; Answer (R 69) at paragraph 4.

2. Wardley is a real estate brokerage; Randy Young is a real estate agent licensed through Wardley. Complaint (R 1) at paragraph 5; Answer (R 69) at paragraph 5.

3. Randy Young, who knew Welsh from contacts at a private real estate agent school in Salt Lake City, frequently contacted Welsh and asked to be given listings on properties being developed, held or sold by Welsh. Trial Testimony of Grant Welsh ("Welsh Testimony") (R 616-17); Trial Testimony of Randy Young ("Young Testimony") (R 583-84).

4. In or around the spring of 1994, Mr. Young notified Welsh that he (Young) knew of a buyer or prospective buyer of real property, and asked if Welsh had property for sale. Welsh Testimony (R 616-19); Young Testimony (R 584-85).

5. Welsh responded that he was interested in selling the Subject Property. Welsh Testimony (R 618-19); Young Testimony (R 588).

6. Young asked whether Welsh would give Wardley a listing on the property, to which Welsh responded that he would not, as prices on the property were fluctuating. Welsh Testimony (R 618); Young Testimony (R 588).

7. Young represented to Welsh, however, that Wardley and/or Young had an agency agreement with their prospective buyers, who would take care of the commission. Welsh Affidavit (R 192-95) at ¶ 3.

8. The foregoing exchange was consistent with exchanges between Welsh and Young on numerous other properties, where Young had located buyers for Welsh's properties and had been paid no commission from him. Welsh Testimony (R 618-19; 622).

9. Mr. Young asked Welsh what he (Welsh) would be willing to sell the Subject Property for. Welsh responded that he needed to realize \$18,500 per acre. Excerpt of Deposition of Randy Young submitted in opposition to motion for summary judgment (R 196) at page 24 (R 208).

10. Mr. Young then introduced Welsh to Leon Peterson, the prospective buyer for the Subject Property. Affidavit of Grant Welsh (R 192) at paragraph 3; Welsh Testimony (R 620); Young Testimony (R 590-92).

11. On or about May 31, 1994, Welsh and Peterson entered into the Purchase Agreement, a Real Estate Purchase Contract under which defendant/appellant Welsh agreed to sell, and Peterson agreed to buy, the Subject Property. Welsh Testimony (R 623-24); Defendant's Exhibit 2 (R 350).

12. Immediately prior to executing the Real Estate Purchase Contract, Welsh learned from Peterson, for the first time, that Peterson had not retained Wardley or Young as his agent in the transaction. Welsh Testimony (R 627-28).

13. Young later testified that, in fact, his role in the transaction was as "coordinating agent", which he described as follows:

"Q. Please look at the line that says "Selling Agent."

A. O.K.

Q. Does it not list you as selling agent?

A. It looks like it does.

Q. Based on your prior testimony today, you were not a selling agent in this transaction; is that correct?

A. That's correct.

Q. So this document is incorrect?

A. It must be. It looks as though she had crossed out "selling agent" and didn't do it under my name. Did it under Wardley, for the record.

Q. Did you tell Ms. Stern, you were an agent for either party in this transaction?

A. *I told them I represented both parties, I brang [sic] them together."*

Excerpt of Deposition of Randy Young attached to Supplemental Memorandum in Opposition to Motion for Summary Judgment (R 196) at page 19 (R 206), lines 1-18 (emphasis added).

14. In deposition testimony submitted to the lower court in opposition to Wardley's motion for summary judgment herein, Wardley's designated representative, Lee Stern, agreed that, by his own representation, Young had been acting as a limited, dual agent:

Q. I would like you to assume for purposes of this question, that Mr. Young stated to you as representing both buyer and seller in this transaction. Assuming he made that statement, would you consider him a dual agent?

A. A limited agent, uh huh (affirmative).

Q. Is a limited agent the same as a dual agent?

A. Yes.

Excerpt from Deposition of Lee Stern submitted in opposition to Motion for Summary Judgment (R 196) at page 19, lines 9-17 (R 213).

15. Both Young and Stern, however, took the position that Young was a "coordinating agent"--*and therefore had no fiduciary duty to either buyer or seller.* Excerpt from Deposition of Randy Young, submitted in opposition to Wardley's Motion for Summary Judgment (R 196) at pp. 19-20 (R 206-207); excerpt from the Deposition of Lee Stern submitted in opposition to Wardley's Motion for Summary Judgment (R 196) at page 19 (R 213).

16. At no time prior to the execution of the Purchase Agreement had Wardley, or Young on its behalf, made any written disclosure to Welsh that either was acting as a limited or dual agent; that the nature or scope of Wardley's fiduciary obligations to either buyer or seller in the transaction would in any way be affected or modified by virtue of any relationship with the buyer and the seller, nor did Wardley or Mr. Young obtain, from defendant/appellant Welsh and/or Peterson, written consent to any joint, dual or "coordinating agent" relationship. Welsh Testimony (R 627-30; Young Testimony (R 594-96).

17. Upon learning that Wardley had not been functioning as Peterson's agent, Welsh, in order to close the transaction, agreed to the insertion in the Purchase Agreement of a clause providing for payment of a one-time fee of \$500 per acre sold to plaintiff/appellee Wardley. Welsh Testimony (R 627-28; 646-48; 670-71).

18. Thereafter, a dispute arose between Welsh and Peterson concerning the interpretation of the terms and conditions of the Purchase Agreement. Affidavit of Grant Welsh (R 192) at paragraph 5; Welsh Testimony (R 673).

19. Young, on Welsh's behalf, became involved in negotiations; incident thereto, Young made representations to Peterson and his counsel which were untrue, and which disadvantaged Welsh, causing him to communicate his dissatisfaction to Young and advise him of his intent to hold Wardley responsible for damages resulting from Mr. Young's conduct. Affidavit of Grant Welsh (R 192) at paragraph 5; Plaintiff's Exhibit 2.

20. During the time in which Young was involved in negotiations between Welsh and Peterson regarding the terms and interpretation of the Purchase Agreement, Wardley had still failed to notify either Welsh or Peterson, in writing, of the nature and scope of its agency relationship of either the buyer or the seller and had not obtained written consent of either party to dual representation. Young Testimony (R 591, 595-596).

21. Welsh and Peterson finally reconciled their disagreement over the meaning of the Purchase Agreement through a subsequent written agreement, that settled and compromised their dispute. Complaint (R 1) at Exhibit B.

22. Welsh therefore notified Wardley that, under the circumstances, he rejected their claim for commissions, whereupon this action was filed. Welsh Testimony (R 672-73).

23. During argument of Wardley's Motion for Summary Judgment, the lower court (in handwritten notes) observed that:

(a) as a matter of law, no fiduciary relationship existed between plaintiff/appellee Wardley and defendant/appellant Welsh;

(b) as a matter of law, the Purchase Agreement (Defendant's Exhibit 2) was unambiguous, and governed the parties' relationship in strict accordance with its terms;

(c) as a matter of law, Young merely brought the parties together, and was a "coordinating agent", not a dual agent; but

(d) a question of fact existed whether the transaction involved a "net listing" prohibited by law. (R 180-183).

24. At the conclusion of trial, which the court had limited to the issue of whether a "net listing" existed, the lower court issued the following bench ruling:

In my judgment ... Mr. Welsh never considered Mr. Young to be his selling agent and therefore he didn't list the property with him. Because there was not listing, again there could be no net listing. Because there was no net listing, there was no violation of the rules

and there was no violation of the statute. Therefore, the plaintiff is entitled to recover its commission as a third-party beneficiary under the contract between Mr. Peterson and Mr. Welsh.

(R 768). See Attachment 1.

25. Had the lower court reached the question of whether Wardley's arrangement with Welsh and Peterson was a "net listing", testimony from expert witnesses clarified that any listing agreement under which an agent receives, as commission, any sales proceeds net of a specified amount to go to the seller, a "net listing" has been created. Trial testimony of Arnold Stringham (R. 682-687).

RELATED OR PRIOR APPEALS

There are no related or prior appeals relative to this action.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Wardley's position is that, while Welsh is contractually bound to pay a real estate agent's commission on Peterson's purchase of Welsh's property, that commission does not arise from Wardley's acts as a real estate agent. Wardley asserts that it earned its supposed commission by locating buyer and seller, bringing them together, and even establishing the price which Mr. Peterson would pay per lot, with the understanding that Welsh needed to realize \$18,500 per lot. When a dispute arose between buyer and seller, moreover, Wardley undertook to mediate a resolution on

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