1997

Wardley Corporation v. Grant Welsh : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

If an appellant wishes to challenge the factual findings of the trial court, on appeal the appellant must first marshal all of the evidence in support of those findings and demonstrate that, in spite of this evidence, they are clearly erroneous being against the clear weight of the evidence. As Welsh has failed to marshal the evidence in support of the trial court's factual findings, none of those findings may be disturbed in this appeal.

Welsh has also improperly tried to present new arguments and issues in this appeal. Specifically, he attempts for the first time to raise argument relating to alleging fiduciary duties and breaches thereof which Welsh previously failed to present to the trial court when these issues were pending on Wardley's Motion for summary judgment. But, in seeking to overturn the trial court's ruling granting partial summary judgment, Welsh is limited to the arguments, issues, and evidence raised or presented at the trial court level. Wardley's response to these new arguments is made subject to this specific objection.

Welsh claims that Wardley must have acted as buyer's agent, seller's agent, or as a dual agent in the transaction herein. This position, however, is not supported by Utah law, which does not limit the roles a real estate agent can legally assume to that extent. Further,

the very terms of the Contract drafted by Welsh himself entitle Wardley to a commission by virtue of its role as a finder and without assuming any of these agency roles asserted by Welsh. Welsh, who is a broker himself, created the very situation which he claims is precluded by law. He only now argues in favor of the existence of the agency relationship, which he refused to enter into, to avoid the obligation for commission. Since Welsh negotiated and documented the nature of this relationship with Wardley, he cannot legitimately argue that a different relationship existed in an obvious attempt to avoid paying the balance of the commission owing.

Fiduciary relationships arise only by contract or by circumstances where one party has been induced to relax the care and vigilance they would otherwise exercise. In this case, Welsh intentionally precluded a fiduciary relationship by the very wording of the contract, and he failed to allege any circumstance showing that he as a real estate broker had been induced to relax the care and vigilance he would have otherwise exercised in this transaction. Accordingly, the trial court properly held that no fiduciary relationship existed. Even if a fiduciary relationship had existed, Welsh seeks to impose duties on Wardley which are beyond those imposed by Utah law.

The trial court properly determined that the transaction herein did not constitute a net listing. A net listing is defined by Rule R162-1-2.11 of the UTAH ADMINISTRATIVE CODE as, "A listing wherein the amount of real estate commission is the difference between the

selling price of the property and the minimum price set by the seller.” Welsh refused to enter in to any listing agreement with Wardley, and subsequently reiterated in the Contract and by letter to Young that Wardley was not his agent, whether listing or otherwise. The trial court, therefore, properly held that no listing existed between Welsh and Wardley, and thus, no net listing existed. Even if there were a listing, the commission is set by the terms of the Contract at a flat fee of \$500.00 per acre and in no way references either the selling price or the minimum amount required by the seller.

The trial court properly exercised its discretion in denying Welsh’s Motion to Amend his Answer only days before trial. Welsh’s Motion was served on the Wardley effectively one business day before trial, without any justification for the delay. All discovery had been completed by Welsh over a month before he brought his Motion, indicating that he was aware of the facts relating to the Motion long before it was filed. Further, the case had developed, partial summary judgment had been entered, and Wardley had prepared for trial based on the posture of the pleadings prior to the Motion. To allow amendment at this late point in the proceedings would have, therefore, resulted in unfair prejudice to Wardley.

The Contract provides that, “In any action arising out of this contract, the prevailing party should be awarded its attorney’s fees.” Pursuant to the unambiguous language of this provision, Wardley is entitled to an award of its attorney’s fees as it meets the only two requirements, namely (1) this is an action arising out of the Contract, and (2) Wardley is the

prevailing party in this action. The trial court, however, determined that the Contract was not clear on whether Wardley, as a named third-party beneficiary, could recover under this provision. Since the rights of a third-party beneficiary are determined by the intentions of the contracting parties, the trial court properly sought to determine those intentions. When the intent could not be determined by extrinsic evidence, the trial court then denied Wardley's claim. Under the rules of contract interpretation, however, when the intent of the parties cannot be determined by extrinsic evidence, the next step is to interpret the contract against the drafter. Accordingly, any ambiguity in the contract herein should have been construed against Welsh as the drafter, allowing Wardley to recover its attorney's fees and costs and requiring reversal of the trial court's ruling on this issue.

ARGUMENT

I.

WELSH HAS FAILED TO MARSHAL THE EVIDENCE IN SUPPORT OF THE COURT'S FACTUAL FINDINGS AND, THUS, THOSE FINDINGS OF FACT MAY NOT BE DISTURBED.

Following the trial in this action, the trial court entered findings of fact and later issued supplemental findings of fact relating to the issue of attorneys' fees. (R. at 462-66, 477-78 and 764-69.) Among the more significant of the Court's findings, are the following:

13. Throughout this transaction, neither Plaintiff nor Randy Young were agents for the Defendant, which is evidenced by the testimony of Mr. Welsh, the testimony of Mr. Young, the language of the Addendum itself, and

the letter from Defendant to Randy Young dated March 19, 1995, reaffirming their representation.

14. There never was a listing arrangement between the Plaintiff and the Defendant because the Defendant refused to enter into any such listing with the Plaintiff.

(Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, R. at 465.) All of the trial court's factual findings must remain undisturbed in this appeal since Welsh has failed to marshal the evidence in favor of the Court's findings prior to setting forth his arguments claiming that those findings are erroneous. That is a necessary initial step in challenging the trial court's factual determinations:

To successfully challenge a trial court's factual findings, "[a]n appellant must marshal the evidence in support of the findings and then demonstrate that despite this evidence, the trial court's findings are so lacking in support as to be 'against the clear weight of the evidence,' thus making them 'clearly erroneous.'"

Jacobs v. Hafen, 875 P.2d 559, 561 (Utah App. 1994), *quoting* In re Estate of Bartel, 776 P.2d 885, 886 (Utah 1989); Estate v. Walker, 743 P.2d 191, 193 (Utah 1987). If the appellant fails to marshal the evidence as required above, the appellate court assumes that the record supports the findings of the trial court and the trial court's findings are not disturbed. Jacobs at 561; Pasker, Gould, Ames & Weber v. Morris, 887 P.2d 872, 877 (Utah App. 1994); Alta Industries, Ltd. v. Hurst, 846 P.2d 1282, 1286 (Utah 1993).) The Appellant has made no effort whatsoever to marshal the evidence in favor of the trial court's finding of fact and, accordingly, these findings must stand on appeal. Sanders v. Sharp, 806 P.2d

198, 199 (Utah 1991). Subject to this position that the Court's factual findings have not been properly marshaled by Welsh and, therefore, cannot be reversed by this appeal, Wardley responds to the arguments raised by Welsh as set forth below.

II.

WELSH CANNOT RAISE NEW ISSUES AND ARGUMENTS ON APPEAL

In both Welsh's written and oral arguments in opposition to Wardley's Motion for Summary Judgment, Welsh argued that Wardley had breached fiduciary duties owing to him and was thus precluded from receiving a commission. Even assuming, however, for sake of argument that an agency relationship did exist, Welsh's claims of breach under any fiduciary duties owed, as set forth in his Memorandum in Opposition to the Summary Judgment, were limited to the supposed "misrepresenting the nature of [Young's] agency relationship between the parties; miscommunicating or withholding information during the course of delicate negotiations to resolve a dispute over the real estate purchase contract which ultimately led to a substantial loss of profit for the seller on a final phase of the subdivision." (R. at 122.) Further, in oral argument, the trial court specifically asked Welsh's counsel, assuming there was an agency or fiduciary relationship, "Where's the breach?" Welsh's counsel then provided only two bases for breach, namely, (1) an allegation (which notably was not properly supported by affidavit) that Young had improperly taken Peterson's side when disputes arose between Welsh and Peterson, resulting in an alleged breach of a

fiduciary duty of loyalty, and (2) an allegation that Young breached some duty of loyalty by attending the closing with Peterson (which was shown, later in the hearing, to be a factual misstatement of Peterson's deposition testimony). (R. at 547-49.) These issues and arguments contrast sharply with detailed and lengthy arguments presented in Welsh's brief relating to fiduciary duties and the breach thereof.

In this appeal, Welsh attempts to argue additional duties owed and subsequently breached by reference to numerous regulations that were never cited prior to this appeal. This he cannot do. In challenging the trial court's entry of partial summary judgment, Welsh is limited to the issues, arguments and evidence presented when the summary judgment motion was pending in the trial court. Bangerter v. Poulton, 663 P.2d 100, 102 (Utah 1983); Baker v. Angus, 910 P.2d 427, 431, n.3 (Utah App. 1996). Welsh had been given additional time to take depositions, and yet his summary judgment response was supported only by his own affidavit which, as the trial court stated, offered "only conclusory statements without any evidentiary support" relating to the breaches alleged. (R. at 556.) Accordingly, Welsh's failure to take full advantage of his opportunity to defend against Wardley's motion when pending does not allow him to now seek reversal of the trial court's ruling by rearguing that motion with arguments never made to the trial court in the first instance. Wardley responds to the arguments raised in Welsh's brief subject to this objection. In short, while Welsh

claims some fiduciary breach, he has never satisfied the trial court as to what the breach was or how he was supposedly damaged.

III.

THE CONTRACT, HANDWRITTEN BY WELSH, EXPRESSLY PROVIDED THAT WARDLEY WAS ENTITLED TO A COMMISSION WITHOUT BEING AN AGENT OF EITHER THE BUYER OR THE SELLER.

The Defendant claims that Wardley must have acted as agent for either the buyer or the seller, or both, in the transaction herein. Yet, paragraph 12 of Addendum No. 1 to the Real Estate Purchase Contract, which was drafted by Welsh in his own handwriting, clearly provides: “While Wardley BH&G has no agency relationship with neither (sic) the seller nor the buyer, the seller agrees to pay \$500.00 per acre to Wardley BH&G at settlement.” (R. at 647; R. at 277.) Welsh claims that Utah law permits real estate agents to act only as a buyer’s agent, a seller’s agent, or as a dual agent representing both parties, precluding any other status. Welsh’s position, however, is inaccurate and is not supported by case law, statute, rule or regulation. While the rules and regulations promulgated by the Division of Real Estate do contain provisions which apply specifically when a real estate agent is acting as a buyer’s or seller’s agent, these specific provisions do not preclude or prohibit a real estate agent from acting in any other capacity in a transaction. In fact, Rule R162-6-1.9 of the UTAH ADMINISTRATIVE CODE specifically contemplates that a real estate agent may be involved in a transaction in a role other than as the buyer’s agent or the seller’s agent by

referring to a finder's fee situation: "A licensee may not pay a finder's fee or give any valuable consideration to an unlicensed person or entity for referring a prospect in a real estate transaction, except as provided in this rule." Accordingly, Utah law, while limiting finder's fees only to licensed agents, obviously does not preclude or limit the capacities in which a licensed real estate agent can legally act in a transaction to only those of buyer's agent, seller's agent, or dual agent.

Further, Welsh, who is a licensed real estate broker himself and who is expected to be well aware of the laws and regulations relating to real estate agents, created the very situation which he claims is prohibited by Utah law. (R. at 647.) In fact, Randy Young was not even present at the time the contract referenced above was drafted and signed by Welsh and by the buyer, Leon Peterson, another broker. (R. at 611.) Now, in a transparent and ineffectual attempt to circumvent his obligation to pay the commission which he himself inserted into the contract, Welsh claims that Wardley violated Rule R162-6-2.7 of the Utah Administrative Code which states: "In every real estate transaction involving a licensee, **as agent or principal**, the licensee shall fully disclose in writing to the buyer and seller . . . his agency relationship(s). The disclosure shall be made prior to the buyer and seller . . . entering into a binding agreement with each other." (Emphasis supplied.) Notably, this rule only requires such a disclosure when a real estate agent is involved as an agent or principal; Welsh himself evidenced that Wardley was not an agent of either party in this transaction. Even if

this rule were applicable in the present situation, Welsh himself satisfied the agency disclosure requirements when he wrote into the contract that Wardley had no agency relationship with either the buyer or the seller. Since this statement was part of the Contract negotiated and signed by both parties, each was aware of the non-agency status between themselves and Wardley. Rule R162-6-2.7 does not specify the format of such a disclosure; and any “disclosure” from Wardley back to Welsh and Peterson would have been redundant and meaningless.

Welsh’s argument that Wardley represented at least one, and arguably both, of the parties herein is disingenuous since Welsh, ignoring his own specified language, is simply attempting to avoid an agreed obligation although he continually refused to enter into a listing agreement with Randy Young. (R. at 618.) Hence, Welsh himself created the situation wherein Wardley did not assume the fiduciary duties which Welsh now attempts to fabricate to avoid a commission. The Court should reject Welsh’s meritless position through his attempt to avoid the provisions in the contract he drafted. The trial court rejected Welsh’s “agency” argument on summary judgment, and Welsh now has no legitimate basis to overturn that ruling.

IV.

WELSH REFUSED TO ALLOW WARDLEY TO ACT AS HIS AGENT

Young and Wardley were precluded from being agents of either the buyer or the seller by the parties' refusal to agree to that relationship. In his brief, Welsh claims that Young and Wardley participated too actively in the transaction not to have been an agent of the parties. What is certain is that, by Welsh's own admission, he refused to enter into a listing agreement with Randy Young, wrote into the Contract with Leon Peterson that Wardley represented neither the buyer nor the seller, and then reiterated the fact that Young was not his agent and had no authority to represent him in a letter dated nearly one year after Welsh entered into the Contract with Leon Peterson, which stated, "I would like to remind you that you do not represent me in any way whatsoever, nor do you maintain any kind of agency relationship with me, whatsoever." (R. at 272, 618.) Thus, Welsh's own undisputed actions provided sufficient grounds to refute his agency arguments and the Court was well justified in granting partial summary judgment.

Welsh cannot on the one hand refuse to allow Wardley and Young to act as his agent and at the same time claim that they owe him all of the fiduciary duties and obligations of a seller's agent which arise only in an agency relationship. A fiduciary relationship only arises as follows:

A fiduciary or confidential relationship may be created by contract or by circumstances where equity will imply a higher duty in a relationship

because the trusting party has been induced to relax the care and vigilance he would ordinarily exercise. In such a case, the evidence must demonstrate the placement of trust and reliance such that the nature of the relationship is clear.

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